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Significance: 
The Fleet Street Houses stand on a portion of the old Carter farm, in a large subdivision known as "Rockville 
Heights" that stood south and east of Maryland Street. In 1889-90, Washington real estate investors A.A. Wilson 
and Co. purchased and platted the former farm in an attempt to capitalize on the housing boom in Rockville, and 
to compete with the developing West End subdivision. The platting plan for Rockville Heights called for wide 
boulevards, large circles with radiating avenues, parks, and lakes, intended to attract wealthy families. However 
lot sales in this large subdivision that stood south and east of Maryland Street were slow and in 1914 a foreclosure 
sale was held for the 296 unsold acres in Rockville Heights, included the three lots housing the Fleet Street 
Houses. 

' At the foreclosure sale, Dr. Robert C. Warfield, a Rockville dentist and one of the first to build a home in the 
Rockville Heights development, purchased lots 6, 8, and part of 10 in Block 2 of Rockville Heights. These lots 
stood across the street from Dr. Warfield's own residence in Block 1 of Rockville Heights. In 1926-27, Dr. 
Warfield financed the construction of two side-gabled houses with Colonial Revival details, currently at 101 and 
105 Fleet Street. The house at 101 Fleet Street sold to Rowen Erb in 1926, remaining in the Erb family until its 
sale to Montgomery County in 1969. The 105 Fleet property was purchased by May E. Fisher in 1927, then sold 
to local lumber merchant Leland Fisher who sold it to the county in the late 1960s. 

In 1936, the Warfield family constructed a side-gabled house with slight Craftsman style elements, currently 103 
Fleet Street. This structure stands perpendicular to Fleet Street, with the main fa<;:ade facing the 105 Fleet 
structure. The Warfields retained the 103 Fleet structure as a rental unit until Rev. Gaither P. Warfield sold it to 
the county in 1966. The expansion of the county government that drove the purchase of these Fleet Street Houses 
also led to the demolition of the homes in Block 1 of Rockville Heights, including the Warfield residence. 

The Rockville Heights subdivision is located in the City of Rockville. Rockville seemed to develop because it was 
a day's journey from the port of Georgetown, along the road leading west through Frederick. Initially, the 
settlement was identified by the businesses that supported travelers. It developed as a crossroads community and 
also supported the surrounding tobacco farmers. Then, in 1776, Montgomery County was separated from 
Frederick County and Rockville became the County Seat. Rockville became a courthouse village surrounded by 
agriculture, and many people connected with the courthouse settled in the area. In 1860 the city was incorporated, 

·however, it remained small until 1873 when the Metropolitan Branch of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad 
dramatically altered the town. The arrival of the railroad brought summer and weekend visitors to Rockville, and 
as a result of the resort trade, the town rapidly expanded in size and population. In addition, the increase of the 
Federal Government workforce together with improved roads and streetcar systems helped transform Rockville 
into a hometown for commuters. The growth of Rockville did stabilize and during the Depression it even fell. 
Then, with the enactment of the New Deal programs and World War II, Rockville experienced a second major 
development boom and the city flourished as a satellite city of Washington DC; later becoming a self-sustaining 
community. · 

The predominant house type within Rockville Heights was a two-story, vernacular house form with Colonial 
Revival and/or Folk Victorian elements. 101and105 Fleet Street are examples of a side-gabled, massed 
vernacular plan with Colonial Revival features. The Colonial Revival style developed as a renewed interest in 
early English and Dutch architecture - especially the Georgian and Adam styles as well as Postmedieval English 
and Dutch Colonial houses. While Colonial Revival was a dominant style for domestic architecture during the 
first half of the twentieth century, these structures often combined details from a variety of precedents, making 
eclectic mixtures instead of pure colonial copies. Some of the common features of the Colonial Revival style 

.~ include an accentuated front door, a pedimented entry porch supported by slender columns, an entry fanlight or 
sidelights, symmetrically balanced windows and center door, double-hung windows with multi-pane glazing, and 
paired windows. 
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While two of the three Fleet Street Houses match the common architectural style found in Rockville Heights, the 
third structure does mimic the pattern of incorporating various style details on a vernacular house form. This third 
house employs porch and dormer details reminiscent of the Craftsman style. Between 1905 and the mid-1920s, 
the Craftsman Style was the dominant style for smaller houses in the United States. The style originated in 
southern California, inspired by the work of Charles and Henry Greene, who in turn were inspired by the English 
Arts and Crafts movement and oriental architecture. Through the aid of pattern books and magazines, the style 
quickly spread through the country, and then it rapidly faded with few built after 1930. Craftsman bungalows are 
characterized by low-pitched, gabled roofs with wide overhangs; exposed roof rafters; decorative beams and 
braces under the gables; and porches supported by tapered square columns that extend to ground level. A number 
of front-gabled, cross-gabled, side-gabled, and hipped roof variations were developed. Most of the front-gable and 
side-gable structures were 1-story tall, but 1 Yz and 2-story structures were not uncommon. Of the side-gable 
Craftsman, most were 1 Yz-stories high with a centered gable dormer. Together, the three gable roof variations 
constituted over 90% of the built Craftsman bungalows. Hipped roof subtypes were often 1 or 2-stories tall and 
contained less detail. 

National Register Evaluation: 
While the Fleet Street Houses, as typical period houses constructed in a subdivision that developed during a 
period of dramatic growth in Rockville, are associated with the development of Rockville and a particular 
architectural style, they are not eligible for the National Register of Historic Places. The properties were 
previously surveyed by the Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties, they do not appear on the Locational Atlas 
for Historic Properties in Montgomery County, and were not determined eligible for inclusion in the Master Plan 
for Historic Preservation in Rockville. 

The Fleet Street Houses are associated with a neighborhood/subdivision that developed during a boom period for 
Rockville. However, the purchase ofland and subsequent construction occurred outside of the rapid growth 
period. In addition, recent street and modern office construction, and the fact that the subdivision never fully 
developed have diminished the subdivision as it was implemented and can't convey the intended plan. Therefore, 
the structures do not possess an association with significant events or trends, and are not eligible under Criterion 
A. The structures are not eligible under Criterion B either. Research into the construction and subsequent tenants 
did not identify any known association with significant persons. Similarly, the structures are not eligible under 
Criterion C because they do not embody distinctive characteristics of a type and period of construction. While 101 
and 105 Fleet do characterize a side-gabled, massed vernacular plan with Colonial Revival features, thus 
representing local and national trends in domestic architecture, modern additions, change in use, and city 
development have compromised the structure's design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association. 
In addition to this loss of integrity, these structures are not complete or elaborate examples of the Colonial 
Revival style. While they do possess simple versions of some basic identifying features including paired 
rectangular windows, cornices, and eave returns, they lack an accentuated front entrance as well as common 
decorative elements (cornice dentils/modillions, shaped windows). The structure at 103 Fleet does not clearly 
demonstrate any style, although it does exhibit some Craftsman elements, and it suffers the same loss of integrity 
due to modern additions, change in use, and city development. Finally, the three properties have no known 
potential to yield important information, so they are not eligible under Criterion D, and the seven criteria 
considerations do not apply. 
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Fleet Street Houses 

101,103,105 Fleet Street 

Public 

Built: 1926-1936 

Dr. Robert Warfield constructed these three buildings across 

the street from his own large home in the late 19th century 

subdivision of "Rockville Heights". The Erb and Fisher houses 

at 101 and 105 Fleet Street, built in 1926-27, are similar in 

construction. In 1936, the Warfields built a smaller cottage 

between them. Mid-20th century needs for expansion of the 

County government facilities resulted in the demolition of the 

Warfield residence and the purchase of these three houses. 

While they have been adapted to house several small government 

agencies, 

preserved. 

much of their residential character has been 
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_ not for publication 

congressional district 8 
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3. Classification 
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Ownership 
~public 
_private 
_both 
Public Acquisition 
_in process 
_. _ being considered 
!/'"not applicable 

Status 
_£,.L occupied 
_ unoccupied 
_work in progress 
Accessible 
~ yes: restricted 
_yes: unrestricted 
_no 

Present Use 
_agriculture 
_commercial 
_educational 
_ entertainment 
d. government 
_ industrial 
_military 

_museum 
_park 
_ private residence 
_religious 
_ scientific 
_ transportation 
_other: 

4. Owner of Property (give names and mailing addresses of ~ owners) 

name Montgomery County Government 

street & number 101 Monroe Street telephone no. : 279-1900 
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courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Montgomery Co. Land Records 
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Maryland 
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7. Description 

Condition 
_excellent 
J.L:good 
_fair 

Check one 
__ deteriorated _ unaltered 
__ ruins ~ltered 

_unexposed 

Check one 
~riginal site 
_moved date of move 

Survey No. M: 26/22/5 

Prepare both a summary paragraph and a general description of the resource and its 
various elements as it exists today. 

101, 103 and 105 Fleet Street 

The subject row of houses faces north on Fleet Street~starting with 
101 at the corner of Maryland Avenue. They are unified in front 
setback, basic lot size and site layout as well as by period, all 
being constructed between 1926 and 1936. Much of the architectural 
detailing has been removed, ramps installed, and porches enclosed in 
their adaptation for public use; however all three have been stuccoed 
and painted in a similar but not identical format of light value 
exterior walls and contrasting darker value trims and balustrades. 
Shrubs and mature trees have been retained where possible but 
maintenance-intensive residential flower beds and ,ornamentals are 
lacking, givj_ng the row a somewhat spare appearance. The house at 101 
sits on a narrow lot much reduced by road widening on two sides, with 
part of its back and corner property used for a parking lot entered 
from Maryland Avenue. Houses 103 and 105 have lost front property 
through road improvement. All have frame garages with German siding 
and concrete block foundations (one bay at 101 and 103, two bay at 
105) slightly off the house rear, accessed from Fleet Street. 

101 Fleet 

This 1920-era 2-1/2 story 3-bay-by-3 bay Colonial Revival side-gable 
house is rectangular in shape with one-story enclosed front and rear 
porches, a beveled concrete block foundation, and composi t-ion shingled 
roof. There is one exterior brick chimney on the west side. 

This house is built in a vernacular early 20th Century style, its 
regular., symmetrical front fenestration suggesting Colonial Revival 
influence. As built, wood siding and porch features probably provided 
character, but the stucco finish and altered porch present a very 
plain appearance. Only its rectangular mass, front paired windows, 
cornice and boxed half returns remain as clues to period and original 
appearance. All of the windows are 6-over-6 with plain surrounds, now 
nearly flush with the stucco, narrow drip caps, and flat sills. 

The three-bay north (front) facade has symmetrical paired 6/6 windows 
with plain shallow surrounds in the second story east and west bays. 
The first story hipped roof porch has been enclosed with modern verti­
cal sheet siding. The porch has paired windows in the first and third 
bays aligned with the second story, and a modern hollow core entry 
door in the second bay. The porch rests on short brick piers infilled 
with lattice. A redwood finished handicapped ramp with plain posts 
and double railing with steps on the opposite side provides access. 

Continued on Attachment 7.1 
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The three-bay west facade has an exterior chimney. The gable has a 
slightly smaller 6/6 window. There is one window in the north and 
south bays, second story. On the first story, the north bay has a 
small window by the chimney matched by a similar one in the center 
bay; the south bay has one window. There is a three-light cellar 
window in the south bay foundation. 

The three-bay south (rear) facade has one window in each east and west 
bay, and an enclosed rear porch at the southeast corner. The porch is 
one story, shed roofed, and finished in stucco. Three bays wide, it 
has a single window in the first and third bays and a 4·light wood 
panel door in the center. The door is reached,by three steps to a 
small double-railed open porch. There is a light fixture over the 
door and a three•light cellar window in the southwest corner of the 
foundation. 

The three - bay east facade has a small 6/6 gable window and four 
irregularly-placed windows on the first and second stories. The second 
story has one window each in the center and north bays. The first 
story has one window in the south bay, a four-light wood paneled door 
center bay, and one window in the north bay. There are two cellar 
windows in the foundation. 

103 Fleet 

Built in 1936, this Tudor-inspired frame and 
two-bay by two-bay rectangular house has 
extended on the east, forming a porte-cochere 
porch have beveled concrete block foundation, 
and composition shingle roof. There is one 
chimney and an open back porch. 

stucco, 2-1/2 story 
its front-gabled roof 
side porch. House and 
stucco exterior finish, 
central interior brick 

Presenting a Modern Tudor appearance, the extended front gable 
establishes an asymmetry which continues in window, dormer, and bay 
placement. Eave overhang occurs only on roof slopes and is very 
narrow. Decoration is confined to shallow-applied trim edging front 
and rear, plain window surrounds, narrow drip caps, flat sills, and a 
flattened horseshoe arch used on the porte~cochere. The spare front 
facade has a 1930s Moderne effect due to the irregular placement of 
strip windows, narrow trim outline, and stuccoed exterior which 
creates a flat shadowless facade irregularly pierced by windows. 
All are 6/6 double hung sash windows now covered with aluminum storm 
windows. By contrast, the west side and back are traditional in 
appearance. 

The north (front) two-bay facade has a somewhat smaller 6/6 window 
centered in the gable. The second story has paired windows in the 
east bay, and a single window in the west bay. The first story has a 
centered 4-window strip. Two rectangular cellar openings in the 
foundation are now filled with common concrete block. A porte-cochere 
porch is on the left, formed by the extended roof of the main block 

continued on attachment 7.2 
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supported by two square columns meeting flattened horseshoe arch 
lintels on three sides. Open to the front, the side and rear of the 
porch is enclosed by a plain stick-and-rail balustrade. Ornamental 
iron railings flank the front 2-step access. The raised floor is 
concrete on a beveled block foundation. 

The two-bay west facade is more regular. Paired windows are aligned 
in the north bay, first and second stories, and a single window in the 
second - story south bay is over a pair on the first story. Two 
rectangular cellar ~indows are in the foundation. 

The three-bay south (rear) facade has a small window centered in the 
gable, two single windows on the second story east and west bay, and 
a single window first story, west bay. One window is in the center 
bay, with an exterior door in the east bay. A shed-roof porch, 
supported by three plain posts enclosed with double railing, shelters 
the east door and adjacent window. It is reached by stairs on the 
right corner. There is a cellar window in the west bay of the 
foundation. 

The four-bay east facade has a small, one window pent-roofed square 
bay in the south bay, first story. A wood-paneled ~-light entry door 
occupies the next bay with a single window above, second story. The 
north two bays are covered by the porch and have a single window left, 
and right, the wood-panelled 6-light main exterior door. A ramp 
dormer with two small 6-light casement windows is centered on the 
roof. 

105 Fleet 

Built in 1926-7, this 2-1/2 story rectangular two-bay-by-three bay 
Colonial Revival house has a large central dormer and Doric-columned 
front porch. It is finished with stucco and has composition shingles 
covering the side-gabled roof. Resting on a brick foundation, it has 
an exterior brick chimney on the east, and an interior chimney on the 
west. 

This 20th-century interpretation of Colonial style features 
symmetrical front and side facades, end chimneys, and a suggestion of 
Greek Revival in central pedimented dormer with prominent friezeboard 
and full-width Doric-columned front porch. Window treatments, however, 
are typical of 1920 Prairie/Craftsman architecture using 6/1 double 
hung sashes (now covered with aluminum storm windows), singly, 
paired, and in strips of three. 

The two-bay north (front) facade has a large, pedimented, gable dormer 
with a two sash, 6-light casement window centrally located on the 
roof. A wide friezeboard and crown separates the wide, side returned 
eaves from evenly-spaced paired windows in both east and west bays, 
second-story. The first story has a strip of three windows in the east 
bay, and a modern hollow-core entry door in the west bay. A slightly 
hipped roof supported by four Doric columns covers a full-width open 
front porch resting on low brick piers with lattice panels between. 
There are two wooden steps leading to the porch. 

continued on attachment 7.3 
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The three-bay east facade has an exterior chimney sectioning it 1/3 
north and 2/3 south. Centered in the gable is a 6/1 window. The 
south bay has paired windows first and second stories; the center bay 
has one window second story and a smaller 1/1 window on the first. 
Similarly, the north bay, to the right of the chimney, has one window 
second and a matching smaller 1/1 window, first story. There are two 
rectangular cellar windows in the foundation. 

The three-bay south (rear) facade has one window first and second 
stories in the two east bays and one in the west bay, second story. 
At the southwest corner is a hipped-roofed enclosed porch with one 
window at the rear, and a modern exterior door to the west. A 
ballasted cellar entrance is in the foundation. 

The three-bay west facade has a centered gable window and one window 
in the north and south bays, first and second stories. One window is 
centered. There are two cellar windows in the foundation. 

GARAGE 

The two-car garage is sheathed narrow siding, has composition shingles 
on its front-gable roof, a concrete block foundation and a window on 
each side. Entry is by two wood multipanel sliding doors, one with 
three-light panels, the other with one. 
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~~"iod Areas of Significance-Check and justify below 
_ prehistoric 

_1400-1499 
_1500-1599 
_1600-1699 
_1700-1799 
_1800-1899 
~1900-

_archeology-prehistoric _community planning _landscape architecture __ religion 
_ archeology-historic _ conservation _ law _ science 
__ agriculture _economics _ literature _ sculpture 
__ architecture _ education _ military __ social/ 
__ art _engineering _ music humanitarian 
__ commerce _ exploration/settlement _ philosophy __ theater 
_ communications _ industry _ politics/government __ transpo~ation 

_ invention ~ pther (specify) 
locarrlistory 

Specific dates 1926 to 1936 
check: Applicable Criteria: B c D 

and/or 
Applicable Exception: A B c D E F G 

Level of Significance: national state liocal 

Prepare both a summary paragraph of significance and a ge~eral statement of history and 
support. \, 

SIGNIFICANCE 
These three house-s on F-leet Street- were built for Robert Warfield 
between 1926 and 1936 and were privately owned residences-until their 
purchase by the Montgomery County government. Adapted to house several 
small government agencies, much of the residential character has been 
preserved. 

HISTORY AND SUPPORT 
Robert c.warfield was a Rockville dentist and one of the first to 
build a residence in the Rockville Heights development. His large 
home lay on a two acre site on the north side of (present) Fleet 
Street, built before the turn of the century. When the mortgage on 
the unsold ac:r-eage, 296 acres of "Rockville Heights,"- was - -sold by 
foreclosure in 1914, 1/ Dr. Warfield invested in land across the 
street from his house. -He purchased lots 6,8, :and .part --of 10 -in Block 
2. g_I 

Dr. Warfield financed the construction of two similar houses in 1926-
27 at (now)- 101 and 105 Fleet Street. The house at 101 was purchased 
by Rowen Erb in 1926 and remained in that family until its sale to 
Montgomery County in 1969. The 105 Fleet property became the property 
of May E. Fisher in 1927 and was later owned by lumber merchant Leland 
Fisher until its sale to the County. It still carries its full-width 
one story porch with colonial columns. 

In 1936, a smaller cottage was built between the two earlier houses. 
The residence has a steeply-pitched front gable which composes the 
front facade, and illustrates the era's style mix of clean geometric 
lines with "romantic" echoes of a past age, here done in faintly 
Tudor style. This remained in the Warfield family, who used it as a 
rental property, descending to Rev. Gaither P. Warfield who sold it to 
the County in 1966. JI 

Continued on Attachment 8.1 
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The expansion of the County government resulted in the demolition of 
all the homes in Block 1 of Rockville Heights, including the original 
Warfield residence which was replaced by the County parking garage. 
The County purchased the lots on Block 2 between 1966 and 1973. The 
three Warfield houses on block 2 were renovated, given masonry 
coatings, and adapted for office and meeting space. ~/ 

Footnotes: 
1. Montgomery County Judgment Records, JA12/471 (1914). 
2. Montgomery County Land Records, 242/259 (1914). 
3. Montgomery County Tax Records 1923-1938, Plat of Rockville 

(1930), Interview with Rev. Gaither Warfield, 1986. 
4. Government agencies include health, law enforcement and career 

counseling. 
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